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          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: We shall

          3  begin this hearing, without objection, which I'll

          4  chair. James Sanders is en route and will be joining

          5  us before we take any vote.

          6                 As this hearing is in progress, I do

          7  know that Council Member/Chair Sanders has

          8  consistently been concerned and supportive of the

          9  issue which we're hearing today. He is in fact a

         10  sponsor of the bill, Intro. 693, which we are

         11  considering, and it is indeed a result of his

         12  leadership that we are, in addition to the efforts,

         13  of course, of many others, that we are enabled to

         14  vote on this bill today.

         15                 We're going to begin with our first

         16  group of witnesses. Before we do, just I will give a

         17  one-minute encapsulation of this history and promise

         18  of the legislation we're considering. This is

         19  legislation to finally establish a long overdue

         20  empire zone in Chinatown in the Lower East Side.

         21                 We all know from experience elsewhere

         22  the benefits of empire zones, while not perfect, in

         23  generating economic growth and recovery throughout

         24  our City and indeed State. We all know that the

         25  areas proposed for this particular empire zone,
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          2  Chinatown, 9/11, remain hard hit in the aftermath--

          3  excuse me -- Chinatown in the Lower East Side remain

          4  hard hit in the aftermath of 9/11, and there is no

          5  more appropriate place, in my opinion, other

          6  appropriate places, but no more appropriate than the

          7  proposed boundaries of this zone.

          8                 This Council in fact adopted a

          9  similar proposal over a year ago. It was then

         10  forwarded to the State where the Legislature adopted

         11  the bill. Unfortunately, the Governor, with his lack

         12  of wisdom at that time turned down the application.

         13  They approved the Governor being required as being

         14  part of the process, in favor of establishing empire

         15  zones in other parts of the State, perhaps other

         16  more politically supportive parts of the State to

         17  the Governor.

         18                 That's my commentary for the day. But

         19  that being said, in response to the outcry of the

         20  community, the Governor has now committed to

         21  supporting this bill and to enacting this empire

         22  zone, and it is now back to the Council to consider

         23  and adopt.

         24                 I will just finally note that we are

         25  doing this cooperatively with Speaker, Assembly
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          2  Speaker Sheldon Silver, who represents the area

          3  covered by this empire zone and has spearheaded this

          4  important development within State government with

          5  the support of our Speaker, Speaker Gifford Miller,

          6  who has always been a leader of recovery, for

          7  recovery in these communities and I'm happy to

          8  report that we're doing this cooperatively and with

          9  the support of the Administration and Mayor

         10  Bloomberg. So, we are all on the same page in

         11  recognition of the need and significance of this

         12  bill.

         13                 The people who can talk to that much

         14  more articulately than myself are the witnesses whom

         15  I am about to call, our community leaders laboring

         16  day in and day out for our community, for economic

         17  recovery.

         18                 But at this point I would like to

         19  call our first panel, starting with President York

         20  Chan, the President of the Chinese Consolidated

         21  Benevolent Association, who will be joined,

         22  otherwise known as the honorary Mayor of Chinatown.

         23                 President Chan, if you would come

         24  take a seat at the witness stand.

         25                 And he will be joined by Margaret
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          2  Chin, Charles Wang, Steven Tin, all distinguished

          3  business or community leaders or both whom I have

          4  the privilege of working closely with and who

          5  contribute above and beyond the call of duty to our

          6  City.

          7                 Okay, following this panel we will

          8  hear from the Administration.

          9                 Mr. Chan, welcome.

         10                 Oh, excuse me one second. If the

         11  Sergeant would adjust the microphone. And, again, we

         12  are starting late, and I thank everyone for your

         13  indulgence. And due to the press of visits before

         14  the Council today, we'll ask everyone to try and

         15  keep your remarks within three minutes or so.

         16                 That's just an opening statement, not

         17  directed at anyone in particular.

         18                 President Chan, please proceed.

         19                 MR. CHAN: Good morning, Mr. Gerson.

         20  Alan Gerson, and City Council members. My name is

         21  York Chan, and I am the President of the Chinese

         22  Consolidated Benevolent Association, CCBA. I am here

         23  to strongly support Intro. 693 to establish a

         24  Chinatown Lower East Side empire zone.

         25                 The Chinatown Community is rebuilding
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          2  after the September 11th attacks. The benefits of

          3  the empire zone will help small business grow in our

          4  community and create more jobs.

          5                 We all worked very hard to fight for

          6  the empire zone in 2002. I hope that with your

          7  support we will have a Chinatown Lower East Side

          8  empire zone in 2005. Thank you.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 Ms. Chin.

         12                 MS. CHIN: Good morning, Council

         13  Member Gerson and Council members. My name is

         14  Margaret Chin. I'm Deputy Executive Director of

         15  Asian-Americans for Equality.

         16                 I am also the Vice Chair of the

         17  newly-formed Chinatown Partnership Local Development

         18  Corporation.

         19                 Three years ago, the Committee passed

         20  legislation creating a Chinatown Lower East Side

         21  empire zone. It was the right thing to do then, and

         22  it's the right thing to do now.

         23                 Four years since the tragic event of

         24  September 11th, Chinatown continued to suffer from

         25  the economic displacement that was unleashed as a
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          2  result of the attack.

          3                 Since September 11th, 115 garment

          4  factories have closed in Chinatown. Each of these

          5  factories applied approximately jobs for 50 people,

          6  this is close to 6,000 jobs loss.

          7                 Restaurant, the other large employer

          8  in Chinatown, have reduced their shift, jewelry

          9  stores, other small businesses have cut back on

         10  staff. Meanwhile earnings are down across the board

         11  for all of these industries, and these are the

         12  industries that have traditionally provided a source

         13  of employment for new immigrants arriving in

         14  Chinatown with little language and educational

         15  skill.

         16                 But on the brighter side, in the last

         17  four years, the Chinatown community has rolled up

         18  its collective sleeve and work hard to rebuild the

         19  community. There are many example of this new

         20  collaborative spirit in Chinatown, beginning with

         21  the Rebuild Chinatown Initiative, which launched a

         22  from the ground up community planning process.

         23                 The new Chinatown Partnership Local

         24  Development Corporation, funded by the LMDC and the

         25  September 11th fund, is ready to address some of the
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          2  chronic issue of sanitation, transportation and

          3  economic development confronting Chinatown.

          4                 Explore Chinatown Tourism Campaign,

          5  again, funded by LMDC and September 11th fund, have

          6  been revitalizing Chinatown's tourism industries.

          7  Guess what? We're going to be on Oprah, Explore

          8  Chinatown Campaign. So come a long way. And we also

          9  have help from NYC And Company, there are a lot of

         10  beautiful banners along Chinatown.

         11                 And also with the UNITE and IRON, we

         12  are putting together this Chinatown fashion space to

         13  really preserve factories in the Chinatown

         14  community.

         15                 The need for ongoing financial and

         16  technical support provided by the empire zone is

         17  critical for our community.

         18                 The zone would deliver a tax

         19  incentive to help business grow and increase

         20  employment opportunity. New business from all sector

         21  of our economy will be encouraged to locate in the

         22  zone. While existing businesses will be motivated to

         23  expand in the zone through a set of attractive State

         24  tax credit exemption.

         25                 The Empire Zone Program will
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          2  stimulate job growth, supporting businesses that

          3  hire additional workers.

          4                 The zone's in-house professional

          5  staff will be qualified to assist businesses

          6  locating or expanding the empire zone. It will also

          7  help businesses offset their high costs of

          8  modernizing Chinatown's data physical infrastructure

          9  by providing tax credits for businesses that make

         10  new investment in production, property and

         11  equipment.

         12                 Additionally, eligible zoned

         13  businesses will received reduced electric and gas

         14  rates. The economic benefit that accompany that

         15  designation and all other tax credits and refunds

         16  that are part of the Empire Zone Program do not cost

         17  the City any revenue.

         18                 The Empire Zone will also have

         19  Chinatown hold the line in the phase of speculative

         20  pressure to convert existing commercial space into

         21  luxury housing.

         22                 In fact, in the last six months, we

         23  have seen a number of large sites lost as commercial

         24  space, such as 129 Lafayette Street, which house a

         25  number of garment factories, today they're going to
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          2  be building luxury condos, million dollar condos in

          3  those buildings, okay?

          4                 So, we have to really stop this kind

          5  of gentrifying enforcement in the community.

          6                 The empire zone will help keep small

          7  businesses and affordable housing in Chinatown,

          8  which has always been characterized as a live/work

          9  community.

         10                 The Chinatown Lower East Side zone

         11  will create jobs, business and revitalize their

         12  community.

         13                 We were promised the empire zone in

         14  2002, as Council Member Gerson said, by the

         15  Governor, and we're here now to make sure that with

         16  your help that promise is kept.

         17                 On behalf of AAFE, our affiliate and

         18  community partners, and also we have quite a few

         19  retired garment workers and restaurant workers who

         20  are here today to support the empire zone.

         21                 So, we wanted to thank you, and with

         22  your effort we're confident that empire zone will

         23  happen in Chinatown and Lower East Side. Thank you.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you

         25  very much. As always, Mr. Wong.
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          2                 MR. WONG: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Good

          4  morning, Mr. Chairman and distinguished member of

          5  the Council. My name is Charles Wang. I'm a

          6  consultant to the Greater Blouse, Skirts and

          7  Undergarment Association, the largest manufacturing

          8  trade group since 1930s.

          9                 Garment industry in Chinatown has

         10  been one of the most important economic engines in

         11  the past two decades. Aside from providing gainful

         12  employment to 2,000 -- 20,000 individuals strong,

         13  the industry has poured into the community billions

         14  of dollars in support of economic development.

         15                 Our industry has helped turn

         16  Chinatown into one of the most vibrant busiest

         17  commercial neighborhood in the City. Millions of tax

         18  dollars were collected by our government as well.

         19                 9/11 has destroyed the whole picture.

         20  Outsourcing of the appareling manufacturing to

         21  China, India and other countries with lower wages

         22  and benefits become the trend. And our sector faces

         23  steady decline from the highs of 500 plus jobs to

         24  the current low of less than 100, and many chose to

         25  become non-union. Where is the retraction of the
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          2  garment industry? The negative impact. In fact, the

          3  entire spectrum of our community, including the

          4  restaurants, the hotels and retail stores, jewelry,

          5  gift shops, travel and all other industry as well.

          6                 On top of all these hardships, the

          7  steady increase of new immigrants from China, Hong

          8  Kong and Taiwan continue to add to the pressure in

          9  terms of overcrowding, employment, crime, cut-throat

         10  competition, and a high incident of suicide rates.

         11                 By designating Chinatown Lower East

         12  Side empire zone, you are saying to the world that

         13  this once striving, bustling district will be given

         14  a chance to come alive again, that our garment

         15  industry will get surging support incentive to stay

         16  in business, that our laid off workers will receive

         17  counseling to other skilled training opportunity and

         18  get off the unemployment roll, that a fashion center

         19  of the world will be able to count on us again to

         20  turn out quality products at the desirable speed and

         21  reasonable costs.

         22                 Our industry has played a pivotal

         23  role in New York City and Chinatown Lower East Side

         24  over the years and contribute substantially to the

         25  growth and prosperity of the City's economy as a
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          2  whole.

          3                 Now it is time for the government to

          4  recognize our difficulties, and provide us with the

          5  tool we need to revitalize our industry and at the

          6  same time to rejuvenate our community once again by

          7  approving the designation of Chinatown Lower East

          8  Side empire zone.

          9                 I want to thank the Committee of the

         10  City Council. The entire industry owes you a deep

         11  sense of gratitude, and our community will flourish

         12  again because of your action. In turn, the tax

         13  dollar you are able to collect will sure outweigh

         14  the benefit incentive you would be able to apply. A

         15  win/win situation is in the making. Thank you very,

         16  very much for your attention.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you.

         18  Thank you all for those important presentations.

         19                 I just want to acknowledge the

         20  presence of my distinguished colleagues, Council

         21  Members Letitia James and Eric Gioia and Yvette

         22  Clarke, who was called to a meeting just next door

         23  but will return for the vote.

         24                 And I would just like to acknowledge

         25  before my community present, that these Council
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          2  members are not only among the most outstanding

          3  leaders of our City, but you should know that

          4  Letitia James, Eric Gioia and Yvette Clarke, as well

          5  as Chair James Sanders, have been true friends to

          6  our Chinatown Lower East Side and Lower Manhattan

          7  communities during our time of special need after

          8  9/11, and we've been able to count on their support

          9  as you will, I believe, will once again see today.

         10                 Do any of you have any questions? I

         11  told you, these witnesses can say it all as best as

         12  possible.

         13                 Thank you all very much.

         14                 And now we will hear from the

         15  Administration, which as I mentioned, is working

         16  with us and has played a leading role to get this

         17  done.

         18                 Andrew Schwartz and Yoonie Cho.

         19                 As I speak, we are joined -- as you

         20  catch your breath, we are joined by my colleague and

         21  neighbor, Margarita, and friend, Council Member

         22  Margarita Lopez. Thank you.

         23                 Please, Mr. Schwartz.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Thank

         25  you, Council Member Gerson, and good morning,
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          2  members of the Economic Development Committee. I'm

          3  Andrew Schwartz, Deputy Commissioner for the

          4  Department of Small Business Services.

          5                 I appreciate this opportunity to

          6  testify in favor of this bill, Intro. 693, which

          7  authorizes the City of New York to submit an

          8  application for a new empire zone in the Chinatown

          9  area of New York County.

         10                 With me today is Yoonie Cho, who is

         11  the director of the program, at SBS.

         12                 The Empire Zones Program is a

         13  targeted incentives program that benefits certain

         14  areas of the State facing long-term unemployment and

         15  economic disadvantage.

         16                 The program stimulates private

         17  investment, business development and job creation

         18  through a set of state tax credits and exemptions.

         19                 These include a wage tax credit,

         20  investment tax and employment incentives tax credit.

         21                 These benefits and all other tax

         22  credits and refunds that are part of the program are

         23  paid entirely by the State. That means the economic

         24  development incentive is enjoyed at virtually no

         25  cost to the City.
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          2                 Earlier this year, the State

          3  Legislature passed and the Governor signed into law

          4  legislation that extended the Empire Zone Program,

          5  which had been due to sunset, and identified 12

          6  specific areas of the State as eligible for empire

          7  zone designation. One of these areas is Chinatown.

          8                 To implement the designation, the

          9  Empire State Development Corporation has requested

         10  applications to be submitted by applicant

         11  municipalities. The deadline is September 29th, and

         12  we are working to complete the lengthy application

         13  process.

         14                 As we said in 2002, Chinatown and its

         15  environs is an excellent candidate for program

         16  designation. We have had broad support for

         17  designation among community, businesses, residents

         18  and organizations. We have worked directly with the

         19  community on the development of the application, and

         20  as you know, the process began three years ago.

         21  Although we were disappointed when that application

         22  was not granted, we continued to work with community

         23  organizations on issues affecting Chinatown and to

         24  express the City's interest in creating an empire

         25  zone.
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          2                 Many of these community leaders will

          3  be providing information for parts of the

          4  application, refining the development plan, and

          5  providing letters of support.

          6                 We are encouraged by the wide range

          7  of support that the community has expressed for the

          8  application.

          9                 Your expeditious review of the bill

         10  and scheduling of this hearing are essential to the

         11  process of designating this zone. Upon passage of

         12  the bill and signing by the Mayor, the complete

         13  application can be filed with the State by the

         14  scheduled deadline, and upon designation, the City

         15  will designate a zone board to oversee its

         16  performance.

         17                 Thank you for your opportunity to

         18  testify, for this opportunity. I urge your support

         19  for the legislation. We'd be happy to answer any

         20  questions you may have, and I would indicate that

         21  there is additional data and information in the

         22  testimony that I abbreviated in my presentation.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: If we

         25  could just -- okay, we will continue with our next
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          2  witness on this panel and then open the panel for

          3  questions.

          4                 Do you have any testimony to add? Oh,

          5  I'm sorry, I didn't realize that. Okay, at that

          6  point, do any of my colleagues have any questions? I

          7  recognize Council Member Lopez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: This empire

          9  zone is proposed to take away a precious piece of

         10  land that for 30 years the community of Lower

         11  Manhattan have defended with their blood. That piece

         12  of land is called "Seward Park Extension" and is

         13  declared an urban renewal site.

         14                 That particular piece of land has

         15  been set aside to produce affordable housing there.

         16                 Today the City have the most

         17  incredible big crisis on affordable housing, and

         18  we're talking about creating an empire zone that is

         19  going to take the power away of the local structure

         20  to decide if we're going to build affordable housing

         21  on that piece of land or not.

         22                 I have no problem in building

         23  commercial necessary spaces, but not at the cost and

         24  sacrifices of the land that was preserved by the

         25  people of that community to provide affordable
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          2  housing for people.

          3                 The law that is going to be passing

          4  here take away the power of the local government in

          5  regard of this site and if we can provide in there

          6  and create affordable housing?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Council

          8  member, I can't say whether the empire zone

          9  designation itself is going to favor one type of

         10  development at that site over another.

         11                 I know that in 2002 that particular

         12  piece was included in the empire zone application,

         13  and that the State Legislature has authorized and

         14  made eligible a certain area that they've set forth

         15  in State law. And I think the bill that's been

         16  submitted by the Speaker and other members of the

         17  Council that have submitted it, have gone for the

         18  proposed area as set out by the State Legislature.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Exactly. And

         20  that include the land that has been sitting empty

         21  for 30 years with a promise to provide affordable

         22  housing to New Yorkers who are desperately dying for

         23  it.

         24                 Then the empire zone designation will

         25  take away the local power of this City to be able to
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          2  provide in there affordable housing. If the Empire

          3  Corporation decide not to, it will be the power on

          4  the Empire Corporation only, and that means that,

          5  one more time, the City of New York, the City

          6  Council, will give away our power to decide what to

          7  do with an area in which we can build 4,000 new

          8  units of affordable housing.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Council

         10  member, again, the Empire Zone benefit is just an

         11  incentive that exists for various developments in a

         12  community.

         13                 A residential development, if it's

         14  coupled with some type of commercial development,

         15  could also be benefitted by this program and may

         16  lead to residential development in the area. So, I

         17  don't think we could predict that exactly how that

         18  will --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And that is

         20  precisely the problem, that you cannot predict, that

         21  you cannot secure the land to make sure that it's

         22  not going to be just commercial, to make sure that

         23  that precious piece of land that was designated and

         24  separate and apart for affordable housing, just to

         25  make sure that affordable housing will be part of
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          2  the package.

          3                 I have no problem with an empire zone

          4  that will benefit that area. But I have a problem

          5  when an empire zone is going to take very, very

          6  important units of housing for New Yorkers who are

          7  desperate to find affordable housing in the City of

          8  New York, and unless this empire zone is approved

          9  with a clear mandate that affordable housing is

         10  going to be built in there, this empire zone should

         11  not be approved. And you need to tell me if there's

         12  going to be a clear mandate in the approval of the

         13  empire zone that affordable housing will be included

         14  there, over 4,000 units can be produced in there,

         15  that is a fact, and we are desperate, desperate for

         16  affordable housing. Then you need to guarantee to me

         17  right here and to tell to the Council that

         18  affordable housing will be built in there and that

         19  will not be excluded on any way, shape or form, and

         20  that the commercial intent to benefit that area is

         21  not going to be in sacrificing affordable housing in

         22  that land.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Council

         24  member, I can only say that the whole application

         25  for the process of designating in the empire zone
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          2  requires a bill to be passed and included in the

          3  application and that deadline for the empire zone is

          4  September 29th. And we need a bill passed, and I

          5  would leave it to the Council to decide how they're

          6  going to proceed on that.

          7                 But I would say that the empire zone

          8  designation does not preclude the creation of

          9  affordable housing in that area.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How could we

         11  make a guarantee that then the commercial spaces are

         12  not going to take over the question of affordable

         13  housing? And this Council needs to be very clear in

         14  approving this empire zone with a particular

         15  designation that indicate empire zone can be there

         16  but it have to include, it have to include

         17  affordable housing. How do we do that as part of the

         18  law?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Council

         20  member, I don't have an answer for that specific

         21  question. I only know the process for the empire

         22  zone designation, and it would not -- as I say,

         23  going forward, simply getting a designator as an

         24  empire zone doesn't preclude anything, so I don't

         25  know how we also alternatively guarantee it as part
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          2  of this process, a particular type of development --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The same way

          4  that this law is authorized the state to pass.

          5                 This is a home rule message. This is

          6  us asking for an empire zone to be passed. That's

          7  what this is.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: That's

          9  correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Exactly.

         11  Therefore, we can ask for a home rule message,

         12  including in our home rule message that affordable

         13  housing had to be also produced in that site, and

         14  that that is the condition for the empire zone. It's

         15  not a contradiction to create commercial space and

         16  affordable housing. It's not a contradiction at all.

         17  Then why the piece of legislation doesn't include

         18  it? Why the home rule message doesn't include it?

         19  The people of the Lower Manhattan, the

         20  Asian-American people who live in that area are

         21  desperate for affordable housing, the same way they

         22  are desperate for economic development. Both of them

         23  are critical for them. One doesn't preclude the

         24  other. Why the message cannot be including both of

         25  them.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I

          3  appreciate those concerns, Council member. As I'm

          4  here on the process of creating the empire zone and

          5  the State has a described process with a procedure

          6  for submitting the application and what type of

          7  local law is needed. The area that's included in

          8  that is what has to be determined.

          9                 And I understand that this Council is

         10  deciding to include an empty land that had been

         11  there 30 years waiting to build affordable housing.

         12  And if this empire zone is going to jeopardize the

         13  building of affordable housing in Manhattan that we

         14  desperately need, this empire zone need to be

         15  modified or not approved. It's one of the two. It's

         16  modified to make sure that the affordable housing in

         17  that land is produced or is not approved until that

         18  issue is resolved.

         19                 This is a travesty of justice to

         20  people of color, to low-income and moderate-income

         21  people. This is a travesty of justice to

         22  Asian-American who live in that area, who

         23  desperately need affordable housing. How could we

         24  improve an empire zone that doesn't include clearly

         25  that in that particular land that is empty we will
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          2  produce affordable housing? How could we not pass a

          3  piece of legislation, given this home rule message

          4  including that?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Council

          6  Member, the exact parameters of the zoned boundaries

          7  would have to be decided by the Council in this

          8  legislation.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then it's the

         10  Council who is doing this. It's the Council who

         11  proposing to include a land without putting the

         12  necessary prevention. This is a Council that have

         13  been speaking about not allowing a single piece of

         14  land to go forward without including affordable

         15  housing on it. Then the Council have the power to

         16  modify this and said affordable housing have to be

         17  produced in there. That's what you're telling me?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         19  Essentially I think that would be part of it.

         20                 As I say, we need, in order to submit

         21  this application, we need approval. We've been

         22  working on an empire zone for the area, which a lot

         23  of the community, we work with community groups want

         24  the empire zone in the area. We have told that to

         25  the State for three years now, and fortunately the
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          2  state, in enacting this legislation, has included

          3  this area as one of 12 areas in New York State for

          4  empire zone designation. It provides benefits that

          5  are at no cost to the City. I think many people have

          6  persistently and tenaciously tried to get the empire

          7  zone designation and essentially it is available to

          8  us now if we follow through with the application.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The empire zone

         10  designation can be designed in here, in the piece of

         11  legislation that we do it with the home rule that

         12  set clearly and specifically, we are going to

         13  improve an empire zone and the area that have the

         14  Seward Park, land will be designated for affordable

         15  housing, a combination of use, and that we will not

         16  violate that particular designation of providing

         17  affordable housing in there, and, again, at least

         18  4,000 can be built in there, at least, minimum

         19  4,000.

         20                 Then we can create a bill. This bill

         21  can be modified, including the production of

         22  affordable housing in that land, correct?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: As I

         24  said, all I know is we are going to need a bill

         25  passed in order to accompany this application. I
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          2  think the empire state, when they designate areas

          3  for empire zones, they do it for whatever area has

          4  been submitted and is approved for designation. I'm

          5  not aware that they guide any process for particular

          6  types of development.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then it is to

          8  the Council, of the City Council to decide if we can

          9  produce in there affordable housing and in a

         10  combination of commercial space with affordable

         11  housing. It's up to the Council, correct?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: The

         13  Council has a bill before it, yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And the Council

         15  can modify that bill to make sure that

         16  Asian-Americans can have housing and commercial

         17  injection in there to make the area more vibrant,

         18  better for everybody and have the empire zone in

         19  there.

         20                 Affordable housing together with

         21  commercial, correct?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I think

         23  development on that site will continue to be looked

         24  at, continue to be examined, and there may be other

         25  decisions made, other legislation that could affect
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          2  that other than empire zone designation.

          3                 I don't think this is directed at

          4  specific type of development in any of the area that

          5  the State had given us for this purpose.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes, it is.

          7  Because when this is passed, then the State come

          8  with the laws and the power. The state then dictate

          9  what happened in there, and the powers that we have

         10  to determine how to handle that piece of land change

         11  just by this designation.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: No, I

         13  would say that is not --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Hold for a

         15  second.

         16                 Good morning, everyone. Good morning,

         17  everyone. I'm sorry I'm late. Council Member, you

         18  have one more question. I'm sure a very worthy one,

         19  one more. I'm sure it will be a good one. Then let's

         20  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I have no more

         22  question and only want to make it very clear, the

         23  statement to this body.

         24                 This body is ready to railroad the

         25  Lower East Side by passing this designation without
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          2  including a bill that clearly say that we are going

          3  to build in that land affordable housing.

          4                 If this bill is passed without that,

          5  we are betraying the community. We are lying to the

          6  community of the Lower East Side, we are lying to

          7  Asian-Americans, we are lying to Latinos, we are

          8  lying to everybody in here. If this document doesn't

          9  state clearly that the designation of an empire zone

         10  is going to be including the construction and

         11  development of affordable housing in the land that

         12  is called urban renewal site Seward Park Extension.

         13  And I hope that the Council doesn't contradict

         14  themself from this constant rhetoric that we talk

         15  about. We are not going to approve no developments

         16  in this Council without including affordable housing

         17  as a mandate.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Well put.

         19                 Council Member Gerson.

         20                 Was there anyone else who wanted to

         21  speak? Okay, I see another. All right, Council

         22  Member Gerson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you,

         24  Council Member, James. Prior to your arrival we

         25  introduced you and acknowledged your great work on
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          2  this Committee and with respect to this issue.

          3                 I have a few questions. Is there

          4  anything in the empire zone designation, is there

          5  anything in the empire zone designation which in any

          6  way precludes or prevents the creation of affordable

          7  housing within any part of the empire zone?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: No,

          9  Council member.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

         11                 The Seaward Park urban development

         12  site, which my colleague correctly referred to as

         13  having been empty, except for use as a parking lot

         14  for around 30 years, is that in fact land owned

         15  currently by the City of New York?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: I am

         17  not certain, but I believe so.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If you're not

         19  certain of it, the people from the Administration

         20  testifying here should be familiar with the site.

         21  I'm certain of it.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Yes, I

         23  believe there have been proposals, RFPs on for that

         24  site, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: My question

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  is, is the land owned by the City of New York? The

          3  Seaward Park, it's an urban development site?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is it

          6  City-owned land?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Yes, it

          8  is. Yes, it is.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

         10                 Is there anything in this bill which

         11  would require or force the City to sell the land or

         12  to dispose of the land? Does this bill require that?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: No, it

         14  does not.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

         16                 Is there anything in this bill which

         17  would prevent the City from an act of future

         18  disposition attaching a condition or a requirement

         19  that there be affordable housing on the site, as in

         20  fact the Administration had proposed, I believe, a

         21  year or a year and a half ago?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: That's

         23  correct. This bill would not affect that. I would

         24  say in fact this bill only authorizes the submission

         25  of an application to the State for the empire zone.
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          2  It does not in itself designate the empire zone.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Assuming the

          4  empire zone is approved by the state, after the

          5  empire zone is established, is there anything in the

          6  establishment of the empire zone which prevents,

          7  which (a) forces the City to sell the land, or which

          8  would undermine the normal land disposition

          9  processes in a way which would prevent the City from

         10  imposing a condition on the land disposition to

         11  require affordable housing?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: No,

         13  that's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you. I

         15  think in fact isn't the designation of an empire

         16  zone, just a designation of an opportunity for tax

         17  credits and benefits to qualifying entities within

         18  the zone without any requirement as to the types,

         19  whether it's a particular type of business, type of

         20  entity, other than meaning the qualifying

         21  requirements with respect to employees and other,

         22  shall we say size and location of the business?

         23                 In other words, isn't this

         24  designation neutral as to future types of activity

         25  within the zone, except for allowing qualifying
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          2  businesses to benefit from the tax entities; is that

          3  a correct description?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If there would

          6  be a development on empty land with commercial or

          7  manufacturing, with commercial or manufacturing

          8  entities, would those entities qualify for, assuming

          9  they meet other qualifications, other conditions,

         10  would they qualify for the benefits of the empire

         11  zone if they're built on empty land?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Without

         13  getting into great detail, essentially that's

         14  correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: There's no

         16  requirement. But is there any requirement that the

         17  land be used for commercial or non-commercial

         18  housing or any other particular use, empty land?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

         21                 And, again, with specific respect to

         22  the Seaward Park site, we're talking about

         23  City-owned land, and the City does not, by

         24  designation of an empire zone relinquish any of the

         25  prerogatives of ownership?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: That is

          3  correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. I would

          5  just conclude, my colleagues, by underscoring

          6  something Council Member Lopez stated, and that is,

          7  this Land has, the Seaward Park development site has

          8  been empty for 30 years or more. That is a travesty.

          9  That is a reflection of a very sad history of

         10  politics at its worst. That is something I am

         11  committed. Before I conclude my work on this

         12  Council, as the representative of the Seaward Park

         13  Urban Development site, to correcting and reversing

         14  and doing it in a way which produces not only

         15  affordable housing, but very low-income housing

         16  which is desperately needed throughout our City.

         17                 This designation, especially because

         18  we're talking about City-owned land, over which this

         19  Council retains all of the prerogatives and

         20  authority with respect to land disposition, would

         21  not in any way hinder, impede that effort to reverse

         22  30 years of stagnation. If anything, this

         23  designation would help and abet the cause in

         24  creating affordable housing.

         25                 Because as I believe my colleague
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          2  stated, everyone in talking about the future of this

          3  site recognizes that it will have to be a mixed use

          4  site with affordable housing combined with a degree

          5  of commercial, either retail or manufacturing

          6  activity, would serve the community. And by making

          7  it more possible to have that mixed use through

          8  these benefits for the commercial or manufacturing

          9  activity, you are concomitantly making it more

         10  possible to break the history of over 30 years and

         11  at long last reach a resolution which would include,

         12  a resolution of this shame which would include

         13  affordable housing.

         14                 I am committed to that effort.

         15  Obviously, I cannot guarantee the outcome. The one

         16  thing I can guarantee is if we don't pass this, the

         17  testimony you heard from the community will come

         18  about. There will be more conversions of existing

         19  garment manufacturing sites, other manufacturing

         20  sites, to luxury and upper market income housing.

         21  You will have more gentrification. You will lose

         22  entry level jobs for the very people for whom we're

         23  trying to find affordable housing, and they will

         24  wind up with no housing and no jobs and the area's

         25  gentrification will continue. And that would be the
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          2  real travesty that will result if we do not adopt

          3  this bill, which in and of itself is neutral,

          4  neutral with respect to the eventual land use which

          5  will take place within the zone, and especially on

          6  an urban development site which involves City-owned

          7  property.

          8                 We will have an opportunity to work

          9  together, and I pledge to you, we will work together

         10  to ensure there is housing created as a result of

         11  resolution of that 30-year history, but we will be

         12  better able to do it if we pass this bill.

         13                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you.

         15                 Council Member James.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I guess the

         17  concern expressed by Councilwoman Lopez is that a

         18  land that has lain dormant and stagnant for over 30

         19  years, that we are passing a bill which would allow

         20  the owner of that land to now build commercial and

         21  retail on that site.

         22                 And, so, the question that I have for

         23  you is, urban development designation, this

         24  designation does not supersede an urban development

         25  designation; is that not correct?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: It

          3  doesn't supersede it, no.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Exactly.

          5                 And it's also -- as you know, in the

          6  Borough of Brooklyn we have three economic

          7  development zones, and I have one in part of my

          8  district, in the Navy Yard. And as most of you know

          9  in the audience, in the Navy Yard, we have done

         10  affordable housing as well as provide economic

         11  development, providing benefits to small businesses

         12  and providing benefits to industrial businesses in

         13  and around the Navy Yard, which has not precluded us

         14  from building affordable housing.

         15                 I guess my point is, is that, and

         16  just let me back up. You know, in my district right

         17  now I am fixing a major, major fight and that is

         18  over Atlantic Yards, which is an urban development

         19  site which has lain dormant for over 40 years. And

         20  that site is an urban development designation, which

         21  was designated by the State of New York. Urban

         22  development designation, is not a designation that

         23  we can bestow, but it's a designation by the State

         24  similar to this EDZ, this Economic Development Zone,

         25  two designations by the State of New York, and one
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          2  does not supersede the other. They work in tandem.

          3  They work together. And just again, just based upon

          4  my experience in my own district and near the Navy

          5  Yard where we have an EDZ, we have not been

          6  precluded from doing affordable housing, as well as

          7  doing urban development, particularly for small

          8  businesses.

          9                 Let me go on to say that a site which

         10  has lain dormant and stagnant for 30 years, such as

         11  in my case, Atlantic Yards, what is happening is

         12  that the State has just come in and taken it over,

         13  and taken it away from local control, taken it out

         14  of the City Council, taken it away from the

         15  Community Board, and that is something that I am

         16  absolutely opposed with. But I don't think this

         17  designation is going to either -- this designation

         18  is not going to advance that or preclude that. That

         19  could happen anyway. Whether we do an EDZ or not,

         20  the State can come in on its own because we, the

         21  City of New York, are a creature of the State. The

         22  State of its own power can just come in and say, I

         23  want this land. And they did that in my district,

         24  which was in an urban development site.

         25                 But this designation, like I said,
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          2  will not prevent that, not preclude that, not

          3  advance that, it's absolutely neutral with respect

          4  to that.

          5                 I think, again, based on going back

          6  to the Navy Yard, it's an urban development site, I

          7  mean it's an EDZ, we did affordable housing, we did

          8  commercial development, particularly for the small

          9  businesses located in and around the Navy Yard. And,

         10  so, I think this is going to help the businesses in

         11  Chinatown, particularly in the aftermath of 9/11.

         12  And so though I respect with great admiration

         13  Councilwoman Lopez, as she knows I stand with her in

         14  fighting for affordable housing, I know it's the

         15  number one crisis in our community, I recognize

         16  displacement, I recognize gentrification, it is

         17  happening in Downtown Brooklyn, no one is fighting

         18  for it more. I stand with you, Councilwoman Lopez,

         19  but on this one I'm supporting Councilman Gerson.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Point of

         22  clarification?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I will accept a

         24  point of clarification.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I requested
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          2  that this legislation be drafted making clear that

          3  the land on the Seaward Park be specifically set

          4  aside for affordable housing. Why this legislation

          5  was not drafted that way?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Let me deal with

          7  your point.

          8                 Jeff is around somewhere. All right.

          9  I appreciate, I may open it up to the floor. Okay,

         10  I'm going to defer that -- I'm not going to defer

         11  that point. A worthy question was raised, and it was

         12  raised as a question of clarification. The question

         13  is, can this document, can we insert language in

         14  this document to say that a specific area will be

         15  set aside for affordable housing?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: For mixed use.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: For mixed use. I

         18  stand corrected. Let's get the answer.

         19                 MR. HABERMAN: The answer is no. What

         20  we could --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let him talk

         22  on the record so we could hear him.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Okay, I can live

         24  with that.

         25                 For the record, sir. And would you
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          2  identify yourself?

          3                 MR. HABERMAN: My name is Jeff

          4  Haberman. I'm the Counsel and Deputy Director of the

          5  Council's Infrastructure Division.

          6                 What could be done is put into the

          7  Committee report -- we're talking about the

          8  Committee report and not the bill, a statement that

          9  the Council favors, that the Council favors or the

         10  Council strongly supports, using that area for

         11  affordable housing, and by that mechanism state the

         12  Council's preference, and we could do that before

         13  the Stated Meeting.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Okay, thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. Why this

         16  document cannot, give me the reason why this

         17  document cannot. And the reason I ask the

         18  clarification is because these explanations have

         19  been given to me before and then at the end of the

         20  day their document isn't worth a penny.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Let's get your

         22  answer, Council member.

         23                 Why can't we do it in legalees in

         24  this document?

         25                 MR. HABERMAN: Well, the Committee
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          2  report is simply a statement of what the bill does.

          3  It's not itself a legally-binding document. In fact,

          4  it's not even required.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: For the sake of

          6  the record, sir, that wasn't the question.

          7                 Why can't it be done in this --

          8                 MR. HABERMAN: Well, assuming that we

          9  could legally do that, if, in fact, we did that,

         10  this bill could not be voted on today, it would have

         11  to be voted on in the future because the bill would

         12  age under the City Charter and under the municipal

         13  home rule law. The next time the Council could vote

         14  on it would be --

         15                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Can you talk in

         16  the microphone?

         17                 MR. HABERMAN: Sorry.

         18                 If the bill were amended today, the

         19  bill would have to be, quote, reaged, in order to

         20  comply with the municipal home rule law and the New

         21  York City Charter.

         22                 Consequently, the bill could not be

         23  voted on today, and the next opportunity to vote on

         24  the bill would be too late for this application to

         25  be submitted to the State for this calendar year.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council Member

          3  Lopez. Council Member James.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Jeff, may I

          5  just ask you a procedural question? Why can we not

          6  amend it on the floor to reflect it in the

          7  declaration of findings?

          8                 MR. HABERMAN: Because I believe the

          9  bill would have to be reaged.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay, I think

         11  someone went to just check on that, because I think

         12  we can amend it on the floor.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: As the Chair, if

         14  my memory serves me correct, there is a way of doing

         15  it on the floor, but you'd have to have a certain

         16  vote to it. You'd have to have a certain vote. But,

         17  however, Council Member James, did you finish?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Because Council

         20  Member Gerson wanted to get in here, and then

         21  Council Member Lopez, if you wanted to say

         22  something?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes, I have an

         24  answer to my question. The question is it can be

         25  amended on the floor, but then it has to go back to
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          2  the Committee and it has to age.

          3                 MR. HABERMAN: I believe it would have

          4  to be reaged.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I see.

          7                 Council Member Gerson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think, Mr.

          9  Haberman, I think we're missing a very important

         10  legal --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Just a minute.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council member,

         13  we're trying to hear Council Member Gerson.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think we're

         15  missing an important legal point. Of course the

         16  Council can do whatever it wants in terms of what we

         17  pass. But in terms of the effect, and the effect of

         18  this, is not the designation of an empire zone part

         19  of a state-established process and procedure?

         20                 MR. HABERMAN: Yes, it is.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And does that

         22  process allow for the designation -- allow the

         23  Council which designates the zone, whether it's the

         24  Council of this City or any other City, which is

         25  authorized to designate an empire zone, does that
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          2  allow us to dictate particular uses as part of the

          3  designation?

          4                 MR. HABERMAN: I don't believe that it

          5  does.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I don't

          7  believe that it does either. And I think that's the

          8  whole point. I don't believe that we have the

          9  authority, the designation of an empire zone, to

         10  dictate particular land use. And the point I made

         11  earlier that we're talking about City-owned land

         12  with respect to the Seaward Park urban development

         13  site and before you were here I asked the question

         14  of the Administration, so let me ask it of you as

         15  our attorney; does not the designation, or the

         16  establishment of an empire zone still allow the City

         17  of New York to retain ownership of land that it

         18  currently owns?

         19                 MR. HABERMAN: Absolutely. It doesn't

         20  alter any of the other processes that relate to the

         21  use of City-owned land.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And therefore

         23  if it's part of that process, the City of New York

         24  next week or next month after 30 years at long last

         25  wants to designate that as a condition of the land
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          2  disposition that we build affordable housing on the

          3  City-owned land, nothing in the establishment of the

          4  empire zone precludes that; is that not correct?

          5                 MR. HABERMAN: I believe that's

          6  correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So we should

          8  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I have a point

         10  of clarification again.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: A real point of

         12  clarification? Because you can speak after her.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I want to

         14  understand why when I requested -- I was asked to

         15  sponsor this legislation, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And I clarified

         18  if that legislation is not going to jeopardize the

         19  urban side development, that legislation would

         20  reflect clearly that in the legislation passage we

         21  will protect that land to make sure that affordable

         22  housing is produced in there with commercial. I have

         23  no problem with the designation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: All right, what

         25  is your point of clarification? What do you want
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          2  clarified?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I want to

          4  understand why when I requested that this

          5  legislation be reflected, that was not done? And now

          6  our legal person is saying -- over three weeks ago

          7  this issue begin, and when I requested this

          8  legislation to be --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: What's your

         10  point, Ma'am?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: My point is,

         12  why was not included what I requested? And now it's

         13  told that it's too late.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Believe it or

         15  not, I can actually answer that one. That answer is

         16  clearly that your point was not accepted by whoever

         17  put the bill in, and that is the point. For whatever

         18  reason, they did not to do it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The Speaker

         20  asked me to put this bill with Mr. Gerson. The

         21  Speaker call me and asked me to do this. Then how

         22  could I get the Speaker and Mr. Gerson, both of

         23  them, Council Member Gerson, both of us, to ask us

         24  to put this bill in, and then my request of saving

         25  and protecting that land cannot be included in this.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: That is a deeper

          3  question than we can answer here.

          4                 Council Member James, you wanted to

          5  speak on something?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Jeff, question?

          7                 Council Member Gerson talked about we

          8  would be prohibited from putting it in the

          9  legislation because it's a state designation. And

         10  he's right. As you know, I worked on some EDZs when

         11  I worked in Albany. The question I have is whether

         12  or not we can put it in the declaration and the

         13  intent of the law to basically, to reflect our

         14  concerns with regards to preserving affordable

         15  housing?

         16                 MR. HABERMAN: I believe the same

         17  aging problem arises whether you amend the

         18  legislation intent or quote more substantive

         19  section, which is why I suggested putting the

         20  statement similar to the one I suggested into the

         21  Committee reports.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         23                 MR. HABERMAN: As reflective of the

         24  Council's preferences.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And that
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          2  statement would be part of the record, in addition

          3  to the comments on the floor, correct?

          4                 MR. HABERMAN: Yes, it would be.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay, thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Okay, Council

          8  Member Clarke.

          9                 Congratulations to both of you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Likewise, Mr.

         11  Chair.

         12                 Let me say that I think it's clear,

         13  the concerns that you have, Council Member Lopez,

         14  and I think we've been given as much information as

         15  can be given at this stage. I think anything beyond

         16  what we've been given factually becomes rhetoric, or

         17  rhetorical.

         18                 The concern is that given this

         19  designation in all of the needs of the people of

         20  Lower Manhattan, and in particular the Lower East

         21  Side, that we reiterate as often as possible and

         22  insert ourselves as many times as possible in

         23  assuring that affordable housing is not lost in the

         24  development planning and strategy for this

         25  particular part of our City.
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          2                 It is very clear, abundantly clear,

          3  that so much has taken place in the Chinatown area

          4  to the demise of business, which is why this EDZ is

          5  so critical, that if we don't remedy at least, and

          6  bring some economic stability to the area, anything

          7  else that we're talking about becomes moot.

          8                 Quite frankly, luxury housing is

          9  already being developed in this area, and it's

         10  eroding the base for which we'll have to really

         11  counteract anything in terms of affordability if we

         12  do not act now.

         13                 Again, I think that the concern for

         14  affordable housing is one that is preeminent here.

         15  You've made that abundantly clear. Council Member

         16  Gerson has made that abundantly clear, and I don't

         17  think there is anyone sitting at this table here

         18  that is not in lockstep with that.

         19                 I think what we're concerned about is

         20  the time frame in which we're able to really address

         21  the needs of our community.

         22                 There is no reason, and this should

         23  really go back to whomever, regardless of what

         24  season we're in, members deserve respect to be able

         25  to negotiate what has to be negotiated before we
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          2  pass legislation. That's the bottom line, too. To

          3  get a call, even as a member of the Committee the

          4  night before trying to work out pros and cons of a

          5  piece of legislation that if we don't pass it today

          6  becomes a moot issue, it's not good. It's not good

          7  for our City as a practice, it's not good for the

          8  State as a practice. And it does raise a certain

          9  specter of skepticism about what the motives are,

         10  and why things happen this way.

         11                 So, you know, I think that we have

         12  discussed this issue a lot. It's now 12:00. I

         13  understand how important this EDC designation is. I

         14  also understand and can actually emphathize with

         15  what my colleague has been through in this process,

         16  and I would say that, you know, this may be where

         17  the buck stops for the State. This is not the first

         18  time we've been put in these positions with EDZ

         19  applications and despite all of our urging, this is

         20  happening over and over and over again. And at some

         21  point people are going to become even more cynical

         22  and it's going to come to the point where we say,

         23  you know what? This is where we take our stand, and

         24  it's going to be a situation where you cut off your

         25  nose to spite your face.
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          2                 The State has got to respect this

          3  body more than that. They've got to make sure that

          4  we are in lock step with whatever their concerns are

          5  for passing legislation here and that we have the

          6  opportunity to thoroughly vet it, and that any

          7  concerns raised by any members of the body are

          8  negotiated and addressed in a way in which we don't

          9  have to come to these types of situations going

         10  forward.

         11                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair, and I

         12  hope that you will call the roll shortly.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Absolutely.

         14                 First, I want to compliment everyone

         15  who has spoken. The passion and the wisdom that has

         16  come out here is reflecting a couple of things, and

         17  before I get to them, let me reaffirm the Council's

         18  strong position to aid the people of all New York,

         19  in particular, and in specific the place that we

         20  historically call Chinatown in our community, which

         21  was hit hard after 9/11. And the state reacted

         22  poorly to our application after 9/11. It was a shame

         23  that it was not reacted to then, our plea for help

         24  was not taken then, but we have a second chance at

         25  this, and I know that everyone in here wants to get
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          2  it right.

          3                 Two of the most sacred things that

          4  the Council has come up with today: economic

          5  development and affordable housing. The Council,

          6  this Committee in particular, and the Council in

          7  general, feels extremely strongly about both of

          8  these issues, and we don't feel that there's any

          9  false dichotomy, that you have to have this or that,

         10  that that is just it. We believe that there is a way

         11  of New York City doing both of these well, and God

         12  willing, we will find it. And we may find it today.

         13                 So, I want to encourage our friends

         14  in the EDC to hear the passion, to take back the

         15  understanding that the Council doesn't have just a

         16  mechanical view on economic development.

         17                 I guess you may call it more a mixed

         18  use. We're looking to see how do we have a

         19  sustainable City? How do we have a user-friendly

         20  City, if you wish?

         21                 So, with that in mind, I'm sure that

         22  we are going to find a way to put our view on paper

         23  for this, but I don't believe that we have the time

         24  to do it now on this particular bill.

         25                 So, I'm going to give every colleague
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          2  their last word on this issue, then we're going to

          3  call the vote.

          4                 Don't feel that you must speak, if

          5  you have nothing to add to a situation.

          6                 Then let us call the vote. Let your

          7  vote speak for you.

          8                 Another panel of witnesses? Of

          9  course. Of course. No, we're going to do democracy.

         10  First things first.

         11                 I'm going to thank this panel before

         12  me and get you guys out of that seat, which has

         13  become hot, and we're going to bring on the next

         14  panel. Thank you very much. Which will be called

         15  right around now.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: Thank

         17  you, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 Thank you, Beverly Reid, for all of

         19  your help.

         20                 MS. REID: Ben Warnke.

         21                 Joseph Cunin and Edward Ma, can you

         22  please state your affiliation?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: My friends,

         24  since time is not our friend this morning, we are

         25  going to give you an opportunity. You're going to
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          2  use simplicity of expression and brevity of thought.

          3  You're going to show that you are absolutely

          4  brilliant because you're going to put years of

          5  arguments into two minutes.

          6                 Now, I have faith that you can do it.

          7  In fact, I have so much faith in you, my friend. You

          8  can go first.

          9                 I won't count that, but go ahead.

         10                 MR. WARNKE: Okay. My name is Benjamin

         11  Warnke. I'm the Managing Director of the Renaissance

         12  Economic Development Corporation. We are located

         13  right in the heart of Chinatown in the Lower East

         14  Side. We have been providing technical assistance

         15  and loans to small businesses in the community since

         16  1997. After September 11th, we've been instrumental

         17  in stabilizing the business and economic communities

         18  of Chinatown and the Lower East Side, providing more

         19  than $12 million in loans, to more than 300 small

         20  businesses.

         21                 The community continues to suffer and

         22  we believe strongly and the small businesses we work

         23  with and represent believe strongly that the empire

         24  zone designation will be an instrumental tool in the

         25  continuing recovery of Chinatown in the Lower East
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          2  Side and we support swift passage of this

          3  legislation.

          4                 If I may just congratulate my own

          5  Council Member Letitia James on her victory on

          6  Tuesday. I will stop with that.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Sir.

          9                 MR. CUNIN: Good morning. My name is

         10  Joseph Cunin. I'm the Executive Director of the

         11  Lower East Side BID.

         12                 I'm here today to express the support

         13  of our organization for the establishment of the

         14  Chinatown Lower East Side Empire Zone.

         15                 I was very pleased to receive notice

         16  of this, since I'm relatively new, and I was pleased

         17  to see that Lower East Side was included along with

         18  Chinatown, in the greater Lower East Side/Chinatown

         19  area.

         20                 The Lower East Side has historically

         21  been a point of entry for waves of immigrants, and

         22  has provided many their first leg up on the ladder

         23  of success in their new home.

         24                 Today the area continues to welcome

         25  immigrants from China, Southeast Asia and Latin
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          2  America. The immigrants, along with many others from

          3  around the City still come to Lower East Side to

          4  find employment and once they are established, start

          5  many of the small businesses that populate the area.

          6                 I'm going to abbreviate my comments,

          7  but basically what I wanted to remark on is that

          8  many of the components of the empire zone fit nicely

          9  with things that the Lower East Side BID has been

         10  doing for years.

         11                 Specifically the effort to enhance

         12  tourism and promote tourism in the area. We look

         13  forward to working with the empire zone to make this

         14  a neighborhood or area-wide promotion along with the

         15  Explore Chinatown Program. We're particularly

         16  excited about overall sanitation and beautification,

         17  some of which is underway, but also would be

         18  supported by the empire zone.

         19                 And lastly, I wanted to speak to the

         20  issue of one of the empire zone components was to

         21  enhance and help small wholesalers and small

         22  manufacturing operations, and I just want to make it

         23  clear, the Lower East Side BID extends all the way

         24  down Orchard Street to Canal Street. So, the

         25  southern half of our district is largely populated
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          2  by these small wholesalers.

          3                 The idea of giving special benefits,

          4  tax incentives, all of which have been raised

          5  already, we will be strong advocates and strong

          6  promoters of these benefits to these individual

          7  businesses. We have an expertise in this area, and

          8  have been doing it for a long time. We know the

          9  individual people and would like to get that

         10  information out to them.

         11                 So, in conclusion, I want to thank

         12  you for letting me speak and giving me a chance. I

         13  know that it's been a long hearing. The BID has been

         14  around for awhile, we support economic development

         15  in the neighborhood, particularly that of small

         16  businesses, and I think this is an ideal opportunity

         17  to bring that to our community.

         18                 So, thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         20                 MR. MA: Thank you, Chair.  I'm very

         21  honored to be here. My name is Edward Ma. I'm the

         22  president of Asian American Community Consultation

         23  Agency. It's an advocate agency.

         24                 I have been very active in the

         25  community as Community Board 2, and also a member of
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          2  RCI, Regular Chinatown Initiative, and the Steering

          3  Committee and also Water Committee member, and also

          4  I have been very active involving with three years

          5  ago Ad Hoc Committee For Empire Zone. And I also

          6  wrote a letter to Charles Rengal,

          7  Chairman/Commissioner of Development Corporation,

          8  and the channel has been very loyal to New York City

          9  development due to the 1970 initial crisis. We do a

         10  lot for the community, we cause a lot stability for

         11  the City (sic). Unfortunately, the three years ago,

         12  as the Councilman Gerson mentioned about, we were

         13  sacrificed, because of political corruption,

         14  political handout. We almost meat, a piece of meat

         15  almost in our mouths was taken away by Governor

         16  Pataki. And he gave the empire zone, the slot, gave

         17  it to 300 miles away, Binghampton, here only two

         18  blocks --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thirty seconds,

         20  sir.

         21                 MR. MA: -- Away. And I am very

         22  appreciate those members who support Chinatown. And

         23  I also equivalent to Councilman Lopez mentioning

         24  about political problem. Thirty years ago there was

         25  a plan of Congress Park, trying to do Chinatown
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          2  Park, three acres. The plan couldn't find a half

          3  acre. Only two and a half acre, because there was a

          4  half acre for garage. Lease out $30 for 30 years and

          5  nobody knew until Mayor Beame taking back. So this

          6  is how Chinatown was abused, including to what

          7  Councilman Lopez mentioned about.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         10                 Are there any questions for these

         11  witnesses?

         12                 Then, gentlemen, thank you. Let me

         13  call our last person. Our last witness.

         14                 MS. REID: Meagan van Harte, are you

         15  here?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Ms. Van Harte,

         17  we're going to give you the same two minutes,

         18  because we believe that you can do an outstanding

         19  job in less than that time.

         20                 Cut your mic on.

         21                 MS. VAN HARTE: Is that on? There we

         22  go.

         23                 Good afternoon. Thanks for having us

         24  here. My name is Meagan van Harte. I'm the Director

         25  of Development Services at the Lower East Side
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          2  Peoples Federal Credit Union.

          3                 I know time is short, so there's

          4  copies of written testimony for the panel, for the

          5  Committee, and what I will do is just sort of

          6  abbreviate.

          7                 In general, the Lower East Side

          8  Peoples Federal Credit Union represents close to

          9  6,000 members that are both for the Lower East Side

         10  of Manhattan, as well as extending into Chinatown.

         11  We are a $20 million credit union, federal credit

         12  union, and we are in support of the creation of a

         13  Chinatown Lower East Side Empire Zone.

         14                 We do have some concerns, though,

         15  after researching what's happened at other empire

         16  zones. We want to just state that while we are very

         17  excited by this opportunity, and supportive of it,

         18  that we are concerned by the fact that we hope that

         19  the focus will be equally on new and existing

         20  businesses, and that job creation really gets

         21  spurred and that it not be sort of a formulated

         22  approach to the amount of jobs created, because we

         23  represent a lot of small businesses, and we have

         24  noticed that there have been other areas that have

         25  become empire zones where the state has intervened
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          2  after the fact, to sort of on a percentage basis,

          3  decrease the allocation.

          4                 So, those are our biggest concerns.

          5  But besides that, I think the 230 businesses that we

          6  represent are eager for this type of zone to be

          7  created because there are numerous benefits that

          8  they will have.

          9                 Thank you. And if you have questions,

         10  I'd be happy to take them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you very

         12  much. Are there any questions for this witness?

         13                 Sir?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I will just

         15  comment that I appreciate your bringing the concerns

         16  to our attention, and if this does get established,

         17  I will look forward to working with you to address

         18  that.

         19                 MS. VAN HARTE: Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 MS. VAN HARTE: Thanks.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you very

         24  much.  For this witness, if there are no other

         25  questions for this witness, then thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 Let us go through, are there any

          4  final statements that anyone wants to make before

          5  the vote? I saw your hand a second ago, Council

          6  member.

          7                 I'm going to take the Chair's

          8  prerogative, and we're going to start calling the

          9  vote.

         10                 Sir, would you be kind enough to call

         11  the vote on this issue?

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         13  Sanders.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I can't ask

         15  myself permission to explain my vote, so I'll do it.

         16                 I'm voting aye. I do want to have

         17  written in the strongest way that we can, and I'm

         18  sure everyone agrees with that, that we want

         19  affordable housing in New York City in general, and

         20  if this site permits, at this site also.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: This site

         22  being the empire zone.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: The empire zone

         24  of Chinatown, Lower East Side.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Clarke.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I vote aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gerson.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: James.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Permission to

          9  explain my vote?

         10                 I would hope that the advisory board

         11  reflect the diversity of Lower East Side, as well as

         12  Chinatown, that reflects small businesses existing

         13  and new businesses. I hope that the tax benefit

         14  results in the generation of the creation of new

         15  jobs, I hope that it will maintain businesses that

         16  are currently feeling the crush of the -- in the

         17  aftermath of the 9/11, and I would hope that, again,

         18  we'd promote advanced creation of additional units

         19  of affordable housing which are desperately needed.

         20  And in light of that, I vote aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

         22  the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

         23  abstentions, Introduction 693 is adopted.

         24                 Council members, please sign the

         25  Committee reports. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Please hold the

          3  vote until the Stated Council Meeting. We are

          4  missing one or two of our members.

          5                 There were one or two people who

          6  wanted to speak on this issue. Mr. Chow, did you

          7  still want to speak on this issue?

          8                 Mr. Chow, did you still want to speak

          9  on this issue? You have two minutes, sir. Please use

         10  them well. Please cut the microphone.

         11                 MR. CHOW: Hi. My name is K.Y. Chow.

         12  I'm a small business owner in Chinatown, in the name

         13  of GM Printing at 333 Broome Street.

         14                 I just would like to share a little

         15  bit experience from my point of view as a business

         16  owner.

         17                 Council member, I will let you know

         18  to walk through what we have in Chinatown like ten

         19  years ago when we worked for Chinatown. You find

         20  that East Broadway is nothing, a couple of small

         21  business over here. Along Bowery there's only some

         22  19 company. Now, when you look back in East

         23  Broadway, there are a lot a lot of small

         24  Chinese-operated business over here, and then along

         25  through there on the south side, Delancy and Broome
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          2  Street, there are a lot of small businesses.

          3                 Why? We would like to take a look at

          4  the meaning of the empire state zone. The person is

          5  stimulating the economic activity. While on the

          6  other side, we look at the side, what does it mean

          7  to Chinatown? Well, the booming of the business for

          8  the last ten year, we can see that due to one major

          9  factor, which is the interest of immigration, the

         10  going population of China, they are inputting a lot

         11  of labor, a lot of labor, a lot of effort to grow

         12  the area.

         13                 Now, when we see that after the

         14  September 11th, the industry, the operation, the

         15  business have been facing a drawback. Number one.

         16  The cutback, the hardship facing the September 11th.

         17                 Number two is the cutback of the

         18  garment industry. That one make every business owner

         19  very difficult. Unfortunately, we also lost, we also

         20  lost the empire state zone. We have some friend,

         21  Baserella (phonetic), when the empire state zone

         22  business status had been given by Baserella, the

         23  friend told me, it's a shame to the business maker,

         24  you give them empire state something and we don't

         25  have any business activity over there. Why we need
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          2  the empire state zone over here, you know? But where

          3  in Chinatown area, we need that. We need more

          4  incentive to keep the Chinatown going.

          5                 One point we would like is, all the

          6  new immigrant in Chinatown, well, they don't know

          7  the language. They don't try. Where they can work

          8  for a living? Only Chinatown area.

          9                 So, I sincerely order, you know, to

         10  help us to Chinatown, more to get state zone in

         11  order to keep a little help and power in that.

         12                 Thank you very much for your

         13  consideration of my point of view as a operator in

         14  Chinatown.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you very

         17  much, sir.

         18                 I don't believe that we have any more

         19  witnesses. I want to again thank all of the

         20  Committee people, and non-Committee people who have

         21  spoken on this issue. The passion is the thing that

         22  has built New York to this level, and we just need

         23  to aim it in a certain way so that we all can get

         24  there.

         25                 Council Member Gerson, you'll have
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          2  the pentultimate thought.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Well, this is

          4  the pentultimate statement, and that is I would like

          5  to acknowledge and thank your leadership, Mr. Chair,

          6  on this issue, since you assumed your position.

          7                 Mr. Chair, I'd like to acknowledge

          8  and thank all of my colleagues, and especially

          9  present, Council Member Latitia James, and I'd like

         10  to thank our outstanding professional staff,

         11  especially in the case of this bill, our legal

         12  staff, with Beverly Reid and Jeffrey Haberman, as

         13  well as from my own district office, Tammy Tow, our

         14  Deputy Chief of Staff and our new Director of

         15  Legislation, Peter Pastor.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Since I cannot

         17  say it better, then I won't say it at all.

         18                 This hearing is now officially

         19  closed.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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         24                 -----------------------
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